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Residence of Ip Ting-sz
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Lin Ma Hang Lead Mine
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Maclintosh Fort at Kong Shan
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A bird’s eye view of Lin Ma Hang
looking from north to south
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Photo courtesy of the Agriculture, Fisheries and
Conservation Department
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In 1950, the company that operated the
lead mine in Lin Ma Hang proposed
constructing a road to the mine. Details
about the village setting were recorded in
the proposed road alignment plan.
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Courtesy of the Public Records Office of Hong Kong
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Location map of Lin Ma Ha
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Situated in Sha Tau Kok across the
border from Shenzhen, the village of Lin Ma
Hang can only be reached by Lin Ma Hang
Road in Hong Kong's Northern District. Its
peaceful environment in a scenic setting has
earned it a reputation as anidyll in the
Frontier Closed Area.

It is thought that Lin Ma Hang was
named after a type of citrus fruit known
locally as “lin ma”. Outside the village, there
is an abandoned lead mine that was listed
as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in
1994 in order to protect an undisturbed bat
habitat there. The fortified structure on the
hill above the mine, the highest elevation in
the area, is one of seven strategic
observation posts that were built along the
border in the early 1950s. Known as the
Maclintosh Forts, they are listed as Grade |l
historic buildings today. The feng shui
woodland in the village is the natural habitat
for many wild animals, while the stream
running through the village was also listed as
an SSSIin 2007 for the rare species of
freshwater fish to be found there.
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Maclntosh Fort at Kong Shan in Sha Tau Kok, one
of several outposts built between 1949 and 1953
fo strengthen Hong Kong's border defences.
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History of Lin Ma Hang Village
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Map of Sun On district (Xin'an County) drawn by an Italian
missionary in 1866 and showing the location of Lin Ma Hang.
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“Lin Ma Hang” was recorded in the

1688 edition of the Xin'an Gazetteer.
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Boundary stones were once erected in the area
between Sha Tau Kok and Lin Ma Hang, as
shown in the Report of the Director of Public
Works for the year 1905.
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Photo reproduced from the Survey and Mapping Office, Lands
Department with permission from Ministry of Defence, UK. Crown
ed/MOD

Coptright reserve
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Aerial views of Lin Ma Hang in 1924 and 2009
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The aerial photos reproduced with permission of the Director of Lands.
© The Government of Hong Kong SAR, licence no. G07/2011.

Lin Ma Hang enjoys a history dating back
about 300 years. The village's name appears in
the geography chapters of the Kangxi and
Jiaging editions of the Xin’an Gazetteer; more
specifically, it is mentioned in the Jiaging
edition as one of several Hakka villages under
the charge of a magistrate called Guanfu.
Established by six clans — the Tsang, Sin, Koon,
Lau, Cheung and Ip , the village was once
home to a hundred households. It currently
falls under the management of the Sha Tau Kok
Rural Committee.

In the early 19th century, several villages
around Sha Tau Kok established Tong Wu
Market (later named Tung Wo Market) and the
Sap Yeuk (“Alliance of Ten”) to manage its
operations. After the boundary of the New
Territories was demarcated by the
Memorandum on the Delimitation of the
Northern Boundary of the New Territories in
1899, the first and second Yeuk and the market
found themselves on the Chinese side of the
boundary, but the rest remained in Hong
Kong's territory. Lin Ma Hang, the fourth Yeuk,
came under the administration of the Northern
District Officer. At the beginning of the 20th
century, villagers along the Sham Chun River
were allowed to cross the border without
restriction. During the Japanese occupation of
Hong Kong, a Japanese military office was set
up in Sha Tau Kok, and villagers were forced to
work in the mine at Lin Ma Hang. After border
confrols were implemented in the 1950s,
Chung Ying Street in Sha Tau Kok became a
busy frontier market, but Lin Ma Hang and
other villages retained their peaceful rural
character within the Frontier Closed Area.
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Historic Structures in Lin Ma Hang Village
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Structures of historical interest in Lin Ma Hang Village
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Residence of Ip Ting-sz

Facing the Sham Chun River to the north
and the now abandoned village of Tong To
Shan to the south, Lin Ma Hang was established
in the area between Wong Mau Hang Shan and
Robin’s Nest Hill, which once looked down on an
extensive stretch of arable land between them.
The village's houses are built along a knoll in the
vicinity of Wang Lek. Other structures of
historical interest can be found in addition to the
Residence of Ip Ting-sz, including the ancestral
halls of the Ip, Koon and Lau clans, Kwun Yam
Temple, Kwan Tai Temple, the West Gate, a
stone tablet commemorating the restoration of
the village walls at the East Gate and an old
stone bridge.
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The Ip Clan in Lin Ma Hang Village
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Although the village was originally
formed by different clans, most residents
today are Ip clansmen. The Ip clan not only
put great emphasis on education for its
families, it also strengthened the bonds of
kinship by maintaining its genealogical
records and setting up ancestral trusts. The
Ip family name is widely said to have
originated from Shen Zhuliang Gong, who
was awarded the fiefdom called Ip or Ye
(appropriately present-day Ye County in
Henan Province) by the Chu prince in the
Spring and Autumn Period (ca. 770-476 BC).
According to the Genealogy of the Ip clan
in Lin Ma Hang, Sha Tau Kok collected by
the University of Hong Kong in the 1970s, the
second son of Si Fa Gong, a
103rd-generation descendant of Shen
Zhuliang, moved to Lin Ma Hang of Xin’An
county from Song Yuan Xia in Dong Guan in
1710. Si Fa Gong is thus worshipped as the
founding ancestor of the Ip clan in Lin Ma
Hang. The Ip clansmen are descendants of
Da Bin Gong and Da Bo Gong. Judging by
the order given in the naming practice
specified in the genealogy of the Ip clan, Ip
Ting-sz belonged to the clan’s 8th
generation in Lin Ma Hang.
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Rows of soul tablets are worshipped in the rear hall of
the Ip Ancestral Hall.
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Portraits and honorary plagues commemorating prominent
members of the clan are hung in the entrance hall.
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G’Overseas Chlnese in Southeast Asia and Revolution of
Late Qing Dynasty
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Wan Qing Yuan, the villa where

Dr Sun Yat -sen stayed on several
occasions before 1911 and where the
Singapore branch of the Tong Meng Hui
was established in 1906.
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Photo Courtesy of Wan Qing Yuen - Sun Yat Sen Nanyang
Memorial Hall
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The Huanghuagang 72 Martyrs Tomb
commemorating the revolutionaries who
died in the uprising in Guangdong on 27
April 1911.
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Dr Sun Yat-sen praised overseas

Chinese as the ‘Mother of the Huanghuagang Uprising in 1911 were

Revolution’ in an extract from the

monograph The Young China Morning i i
P e lototaeo "¢ Overseas Chinese from Southeast Asia.

The establishment of the Xing Zhong Hui
(Revive China Society) in Honolulu in 1894 and
the founding of the Tong Meng Hui (Chinese
Revolutionary Alliance) in Tokyo in 1905 are widely
recognised as milestones on the path to
revolution. The majority of overseas Chinese were
emigrants from the provinces of Guangdong and
Fujian. Merchants and workers for the most part,
they suffered discrimination and humiliation
abroad. Along with overseas students and
members of secret societies, they provided
massive and consistent support for the
efforts to overthrow the Qing
government.

Dr Sun Yat-sen’s dedication to the
revolutionary cause took him all over the
world. In Singapore in 1906, he founded
a branch of the Tong Meng Hui that two
years later was made the society’s
Southeast Asia headquarters in order to
unite the revolutionary forces in a
number of different regions. In 1907, the
revolutionary newspaper Chong Shing
Yit Pao in Singapore took up the fight
against the propaganda spread by
reformists, and revolutionary newspapers
subsequently flourished across Southeast
Asia. The overseas Chinese in Southeast
Asia not only donated generously to the
cause, but also took direct partin
several uprisings. Under the leadership
of Huang Xing in 1908, over 200 overseas
Chinese from Vietnam joined forces to
fight the Qing army in Guangxi province

third of the martyrs of the

There is no doubt that Chinese people in
Southeast Asia made a significant
contribution to the funding,
organisation, publicity and armed
operations of the revolution.
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1936FEFHRENES
Ip Ting-sz, Bangkok, 1936
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In 1908, Dr Sun Yat Sen delivered a
speech on the revolutionary cause in
Bangkok’s Yaowarat Road, which
was later nicknamed ‘oration street’.
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Photo from Historical traces of Sun Yat-sen's activities in
Hong Kong, Macao and overseas, courtesy of Ng Lun
Ngai Ha, ed.
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Certificate issued by the Chinese
Industry Company
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Photo courtesy of Kuomintang (KMT) Party Records Archives
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The Revolutionary Activities of Ip Ting-sz
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Photo of a young Ip ting-sz and his wife holding their first son, Thailand

In his early career, Ip Ting-sz
(1879-1943), who was also known as Tin-fat
and by his literary name Kwong-san, ran a
business manufacturing military uniforms in
Bangkok. He joined the Chinese Club (later
renamed the Chinese Association in
Thailand) founded by Dr Sun Yat-sen in 1907.
As the president of the Thailand branch of
the Tong Meng Hui and a revolutionary
newspaper in 1908, he not only provided
impetus for the development of the
revolutionary organisation but also
generously supported fundraising for the
cause.

The Thailand branch of the Tong
Meng Hui attempted an uprising in Yunnan
province in 1910, but the plot was
uncovered before the revolutionaries had
even left Thailand. All those involved were
detained, but they were later released
thanks to the efforts of Ip Ting-sz. The branch
continued to raise funds for the revolution
under the cover of the Chinese Industry
Company.
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Ip Ting-Sz (front right) at a reunion of revolutionaries in Bangkok, 1936
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Photo courtesy of Kuomintang (KMT) Party Records Archives
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er members were recorded in
f history of the Tong Meng Hui in
written by Chen Ji-xu in 1936.

R Rt
tesy of Kuomintang (KMT) Party Records Archives

_

BUERIEEEML(P) BRF—RMNER
Ip Ting-sz (centre) and his eldest son’s family
before he left Thailand
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In response to the growing calls for
revolution, many overseas Chinese returned
to their homeland to play a direct part in
the cause. About 300 members of the
Thailand revolutionary newspaper took part
in the military operations in Guangdong
and Guangxi in 1911. Ip Ting-sz himself
joined the Chinese Revolutionary Party and
the rebellion against Yuan Shi-kai when he
was living in Guangzhou, but he later
returned to Thailand to start up his business
again. He moved back to Lin Ma Hang in
1936 following a succession of measures
implemented against Chinese immigrants in
the 1930s. He passed away in hardship and
isolation during the Japanese occupation
of Hong Kong (1941-1945).

1934 F EE T RUNEBERIARNER
The wedding of Ip’s first daughter at a Chinese school in 1934
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Yip Li-shan (1923-2011), alias Ye
Ching-mau, was enrolled in a self-defence
force against Japan in 1937, the third
division of the Dongjiang Guerrilla in 1945
and taught at the political college of the
Chinese People's Liberation Army (later
known as National Defence University)
until his retirement in 1982. Having earned
various commendations throughout his life
services, he was awarded the medal of
Independent Meritorious Honour in 1988
praising his contribution in the troop. After
his retirement from the military, he took
part in the editorial of various war
memoirs.
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Yip Sui-shan (born 1931) took part in the
secret fransportation centre of Group for
the Protection of Villages in Huizhou,
Dongguan and Bao'an counties and
served in the central Guangdong military
district of the People’s Liberation Army. In
1956 he joined the surveying feam of the
Hunan Provincial Bureau of Geology. From
1983 onwards, he worked for China
Merchants Group in the Shekou Industrial
Zone until his retirement.
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Yip Suishan (fifth from left) visited the Chinese Associationin  \embers are displayed at the Chinese
Thailand in 2007.
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Photos of Dr. Sun Yat-sen and founding

Association in Thailand (Ip Ting-sz is on
the top right).
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Photo of Yip Li-shan (front left),
his eldest son Yip Kin and
mother Leung Kiu as well as
Yip Sui-shan (back) in
Shenzhen, 1954

lp Ting-sz raised three sons and three
daughters in Thailand. When he returned home to
Lin Ma Hang in 1936, he only brought two boys
and two girls with him, as his eldest children had
already started their own families. The two sons,
Yip Li-shan and Yip Sui-shan, who came with him
subsequently left the village and only returned to
Shenzhen in their later years. When Yip Sui-shan
came back to Lin Ma Hang in 1987, he could not
find any trace of his father's mementoes in the
family home in the desolate valley, such as his
Tong Meng Hui membership document and
badges.

The Yip brothers decided to refrace the
steps of their late father. At the same time, they
passed on any information they discovered to the
Antiquities and Monuments Office. Yip Sui-shan
visited Thailand, Taiwan, Beijing, Wuhan and
Guangzhou to find evidence of his father’s
activities. Finally, the Residence of Ip Ting-sz was
declared a monument in 2009 and restored in
2011.
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Structural and Architectural Features of Residence of Ip Ting-sz
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Section plan

Front Elevation plan

The Residence of Ip Ting-sz stands out
from the fraditional Chinese architecture of
other buildings in Lin Ma Hang. According to
lp's descendants, its design was modelled on
the Residence of Dr Sun Yat-sen in
Cuihengcun in Zhongshan, Guangdong. Both
of these two-storey brick buildings feature a
style that blends Chinese and Western
architectural elements and are characterised
by a large number of windows and doors as
well as hallways that follow a continuous loop.

The Residence features a symmetrical
layout with a three-bay floor plan and a
pitched Chinese tiled roof. Two timber
staircases located in two side rooms are the
only connection between the upper and
ground floors. The main living room, also used
for entertaining guests, is located on the
ground floor. The room on the right is divided
by a timber partition into another living room
and a storeroom, while the room on the left
and the rooms on the upper floor
accommodate the bedrooms. The brick
annex serves as a kitchen and bathroom.
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The pitched Chinese tiled roof is composed of traditional Chinese pan files and dark grey

Hakka-style tiles.
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The red main purlin is decorated with patterns of gold squares.

By MERRSTEN - BREA—RILES » HRES RIS - -
The wallls are built of green bricks and rammed earth and are plastered with lime-based
mortar, with the exception of parts of the gables on the upper floor.

TEEBNPO LAE S EEREE - N
Above the entrances on the ground floor, there are murals of auspicious patterns.
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Traditional timber Chinese sliding gate installed on the door to the main room for security.
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The building has a total of nineteen timber windows protected by iron bars.
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Windows with timber louvres or glass panes provide better lighting and ventilation.

BEAEBHIIEMEEE » #HPIEARERM - ,
Rooms are connected by arched doorways adorned with decorative plaster.
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The balcony on the upper floor is supported by four green brick square pillars.

BAMTA LRI TN - ;
The balcony is decorated with ceramic vase-shaped balustrades.
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Restoration Work of Residence of Ip Ting-sz
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Residence of Ip Ting-sz before restoration

decades, the Residence fell
info a state of dilapidation,
with the roof, floor, windows
and doors of the main
building becoming severely
infested with termites. To
reinstate the Residence fo its
original condition, the

tiquities and Monuments

fice carried out major
restoration work, repairing
the pitched Chinese tiled
roof, replacing defective and infested purlins, floors,
windows and doors and repairing and redecorating
the internal and external walls.

There was evidence that the Residence’s
brick annex was inhabited by bats. To preserve the
annex’s unique ecological environment, not only
was the tiled roof restored, but a gate with
horizontal bars was also installed to control human
access while at the same time allowing the bats to
fly in and out.
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Restoration of Pitched Chinese Tiled Roof

HARETHENTH ~ ik -~ &5 P Because of the termite infestation, all the

P S = = damaged parts of the Residence’s timber
= s = » T ‘8
SABAHIEHRARRM B LRERE components, including the purlins, floors, windows

HMEBRBENNEY - TEHE KAI{RE and doors were replaced, while all restored and

BN AE AR B EE TS QISR TR - newly built timber elements have been profected
with anti-termite treatment.
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Restoration Process for Pitched Chinese Tiled Roof
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Most of the purlins were
infested with termites.

BERIMNEEMMME - BOECHEIS -

Before the restoration, the whole of the roof
was covered in dirt and leaves; it had even
collapsed in some parts.
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Purlins processed with anti-termite treatment
were installed on the roof.

ZEERGHEB LY  BRETENERRER  LRRBERARREA(KEE) A
N~ BEREEMEFERNFER - IBINER AP EREFH (“20107) « RE
FERNEEM ESE(2RE » BRARENERDED) -

All the tiles, including some old Hakka-style tiles that it had been possible to save, were laid
according fo the original roof design. New tiles marked with the year of production

- (*2010") were customised to replicate the size, quality and color (dark grey) of the original

files. The file ends were painted with wu yin, a fraditional black Chinese building material.
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The roof after restoration.
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The Residence Before and After Restoration
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The restoration of the Residence commenced in
November 2010 and was completed in the middle of
2011. In accordance with the requirements of
international charters on heritage conservation, the
Anfiguities and Monuments Office conducted a
comprehensive survey and took photographs of the
Residence before the restoration works started. With a
view to preserving the character defining elements of
the Residence, a detailed conservation study was also
conducted before the works commenced.
Photographs were taken and video recordings were
made on a regular basis throughout the restoration
works to document the project.

As bats had now taken up residence in the
building, the maijor structural strengthening works could
only be carried out during their hibernation so that the
natural ecosystem could be conserved alongside the
conservation of heritage. The need to maintain the
restoration quality within the time limit also became a
major challenge in the project.

RIMSEE T2

Restoration of internal and external walls
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Cracks were filled with a lime-based mortar and then cleaned with fresh water
before being repainted. Where major cracks had appeared, stainless steel
stitches had first to be installed between the brickwork to reinforce the walls.

Restoration of fimber staircases
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The two timber staircases were seriously damaged by the termite
infestation. They were reconstructed in line with the original style and
size of the railings, risers and steps.
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urals of auspicious patterns above the entrances were well preserved and
need fo be cleared.

TNERIEETRR
Restoration of Timber Flooring
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One of the major repairs involved restoring the timber floors upstairs. Th
defective floor joists had to be removed first, and new joists protecte
with anti-termite treatment were erected based on the position and siz
of the original timbers. Finally, new timber floorboards were fixed onto th
joists using bamboo nail..
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